New Hampshire Broadband Access

Policy Options to Provide Broadband to Underserved Areas

PRS Policy Brief 0708-03 March 14, 2008

Prepared by:

Benjamin Beckerman Corey Chu Dewey Hoffman

This report was written by undergraduate students at Dartmouth College under the direction of professors in the Rockefeller Center. We are also thankful for the services received from the Student Center for Research, Writing, and Information Technology (RWiT) at Dartmouth College. Support for the Policy Research Shop is provided by the Rockefeller Foundation.

> Contact: Nelson A. Rockefeller Center, 6082 Rockefeller Hall, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH 03755 http://policyresearch.dartmouth.edu • Email: Policy.Research@Dartmouth.edu



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1. INTRODUCTION	2
 1.1 GENERAL USES OF BROADBAND INTERNET ACCESS 1.2 LIKELY ECONOMIC BENEFITS OF BROADBAND INTERNET 1.2.1 Cedar Falls, Iowa vs. Waterloo, Iowa: Fiber-to-the-Business and Economic Growth 1.2.2 South Dundas, Canada: Quantified Economic Growth 1.3 THE "DIGITAL DIVIDE": THE RURAL DISADVANTAGE 4 FACTORS AFFECTING BROADBAND ACCESSIBILITY 5 MIXED EFFECTIVENESS OF STATE-INITIATED POLICIES 	2 3 4 5 6 6
2. PUBLIC SERVICE NETWORKS	7
2.1 COLORADO: MNT 2.2 Washington: WAN	7 8
3. PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS	9
3.1 UTAH: UTOPIA 3.2 North Carolina: e-NC Authority 3.3 Kentucky: ConnectKentucky	9 10 11
4. NEARBY STATES	12
4.1 Vermont: Establishing Contacts and Sponsoring Innovation 4.2 Maine: Gathering Information and Using a Surcharge to Fund Underserved Areas	12 12
5. BEYOND STATE LEVEL	12
 5.1 MULTI-STATE PARTNERSHIPS 5.1.1 Wireless LINC: New Hampshire's North Country and Vermont's Northeastern Kingdom 5.1.2 SMART Organization: Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania 5.1.3 Connecting Appalachia Task Force: Currently Ohio 5.2 FUNDING 5.2.1 USDA: \$75 Billion Nationwide, \$728 Million to New Hampshire and Vermont 5.2.2 HUD: \$175 Billion Nationwide 	13 13 14 15 15 15 16
6. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	16
 6.1 STATEWIDE BROADBAND ADVOCATE 6.2 ASSESSMENT OF ACCESSIBILITY AND DEMAND 6.3 DEMAND AGGREGATION 6.4 FINANCIAL INCENTIVES 6.5 COLLABORATION 6.5.1 Collaboration between the Public and Private Sectors 6.5.2 Collaboration amongst Similar Regions 6.6 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS PRESENT IN CASE STUDIES 	16 17 17 18 18 18 18
REFERENCES	20



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In spite of the many uses and likely economic benefits of broadband Internet access, several geographic and demographic factors suggest that New Hampshire's broadband Internet accessibility is not as prevalent as more populated and urban states throughout the country. In particular, New Hampshire's more rural areas remain underserved as roughly 30 percent of New Hampshire citizens do not have access to broadband internet service.

This report first introduces the reader to broadband Internet access' capabilities and then evaluates other states' projects that were designed to overcome similar barriers when promoting broadband access.

Findings were divided into four overall classifications:

- **Public service networks:** States such as Colorado and Washington created a statewide high-speed network to transfer data for a part of the public sector, such as local governments or schools. The network then serves as a branching-off point for broadband carriers wishing to expand service to private homes and businesses.
- **Public-private partnerships:** In Utah, private providers opt to pay participating cities to use the government-controlled network. In North Carolina and Kentucky, public-private entities consolidate broadband availability data and work to research, promote, and fund connectivity efforts.
- **Nearby states:** Vermont and Maine have recently created statewide programs to promote Internet access through financial incentives and gathering information.
- Collaboration beyond the single-state level: States can work with other states or receive assistance from the federal government. Compacts provide broadband to multiple states, such with the Wireless LINC project, the Mid-Atlantic SMART Organization, and the Connecting Appalachia Task force. On the federal level, USDA and HUD funding are available for broadband access expansion in rural areas.

The report concludes with five policy recommendations of best practices found among the different models for broadband Internet access.

These recommendations support:

- 1. A statewide advocate for broadband access,
- 2. An assessment of supply and demand of broadband in New Hampshire,
- 3. Aggregating demand to drive down costs,
- 4. A program of financial incentives, and
- 5. A plan for collaboration between the public and private sectors and across similar regions.

1. INTRODUCTION

Broadband Internet access has the potential to provide a variety of services. Previous studies have indicated a great likelihood that it can also notably contribute to economic growth. However, several factors, such as a rural setting and a relatively smaller population density, may have hindered broadband Internet accessibility throughout the state of New Hampshire. While many states have undertaken programs to improve accessibility, studies have conflicted over the extent to which various policies can be effective.

Rural broadband access is particularly pertinent right now to the state of New Hampshire due to the approved sale of Verizon's telecom infrastructure in northern New England to North Carolina-based Fairpoint Communications in February of 2008.¹ Given Fairpoint's promise to expand rural broadband access, and critics of the deal doubting Fairpoint's ability to do so, the issue of expanding broadband access has never been so critical.²

According to the May 2008 statewide survey of New Hampshire registered voters conducted by the Policy Research Shop at the Rockefeller Center of Dartmouth College, just over 70 percent of the respondents reported having access to broadband Internet service (71.6 percent). Close to 80 percent of respondents reported daily use of the Internet, yet just over half reported spending more than one hour online everyday (21 percent spend no time and 26 percent spend less than one hour a day online).³

The purposes of this report are the following: 1) to introduce the reader to broadband Internet access' capabilities, and 2) to deliver a comparative assessment of statewide projects intended to increase broadband Internet access, especially in rural areas.

Multiple state and federal models for providing broadband access are presented. These models have the advantages of visibility, effective policy, and applicability to the state of New Hampshire. The report concludes with policy recommendations of best practices found within these models.

1.1 General Uses of Broadband Internet Access

Broadband access has the potential to boost employee productivity by having workers "use email and web browsing to raise the quality and lower the costs of gathering market intelligence and communicating with suppliers and customers."⁴ Broadband access can also provide the following benefits and services:

- Telemedicine
- Telecommuting
- Voice Over Internet Protocol (VOIP)
- Leisure activities, such as listening to the radio, watching television, or viewing movies⁵
- Facilitation toward managing home-based and new businesses



- Online services such as shopping, bill payment, and job searching
- Distance education programs⁶

According to 2003 US Census Bureau data, those who have broadband Internet access tend to engage in more online activities than those with either a dial-up or no connection. They also tend to use the Internet more frequently.⁷



Figure 1: Online Activities by Type of Home Internet Connection, 2003 (Percent of Internet Users 15 and Over)⁸

1.2 Likely Economic Benefits of Broadband Internet

A study performed by professors from the MIT and Carnegie Mellon University attests to broadband availability's positive economic impacts. The authors found that "between 1998 and 2002, communities in which mass-market broadband was available by December 1999 experienced more rapid growth in" the following: ⁹

- employment by over five percent, "consistent with the view that broadband had an especially large impact in smaller, rural communities,"¹⁰
- "the number of businesses overall" by over two percent,¹¹ and
- "the share of firms in IT [information technology] intensive sectors" by 0.5 percent.¹²

This held true when comparing communities of similar demographics where the major difference was broadband accessibility. The study also stipulates that "the positive impact on establishment growth was higher for larger establishments and for IT intensive sectors of the economy," and while there was no significant growth in wages as a result of the



accessibility, "residential property values" did increase by almost seven percent.¹³ According to the authors, broadband accessibility's benefits are "both real and measurable."¹⁴

The following two case studies suggest a likely link between broadband Internet access and economic growth.

1.2.1 Cedar Falls, Iowa vs. Waterloo, Iowa: Fiber-to-the-Business and Economic Growth

A 2004 case study by the Iowa Association of Municipal Utilities examined economic growth by comparing two adjacent communities in Iowa. Both Cedar Falls and Waterloo possess similar geography, transportation access (highways, railheads, motor carriers, airport), and water source access. Waterloo has several factors working in its favor; it has roughly twice the population and has most of the area's major private employers. Even though Waterloo has higher property taxes (\$10 per \$1,000 taxable value), the price of land in Cedar Falls is \$10,000-\$25,000 more per acre than in Waterloo. Additionally, in fiscal year 2002, Cedar Falls recorded over \$101 million in construction, while Waterloo recorded less than \$53 million.¹⁵

The author of the study attributes this "disparity" to Cedar Falls having a municipal communications network that – unlike Waterloo's private sector – ensures a fiber network to businesses in the area (Fiber-to-the-Business). Although some may attribute this to economic growth in the more well-connected Cedar Falls, the author refrains from attributing causation and "does not incorporate any degree of sophisticated economic analysis."¹⁶

1.2.2 South Dundas, Canada: Quantified Economic Growth

A Canadian example also positively correlates broadband access to economic growth. The United Kingdom's Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) contacted Strategic Networks Group (SNG), an economic consulting firm that "helps communities and regions leverage the benefits of broadband...for economic and social development" and specializes in assessing telecommunication investments.¹⁷ The DTI asked SNG to measure the economic impacts a fiber network in which the Township of South Dundas invested.¹⁸ South Dundas, located in southeastern Canada near the northern border of New York, is a rural and semi-rural area with a population of 11,000 whose economy consists mainly of manufacturing and constructions sectors, along with notable agriculture, retail, and service establishments. The township spent \$750,000ⁱ to build the network and \$11,000/month for maintenance. Wireless service is used to extend access to some of the most rural areas.¹⁹

ⁱ In all references pertaining only to the South Dundas case study, all dollar values refer to Canadian dollars. Throughout the rest of this report, all other references are to US dollars.



By the time SNG conducted the 2003 study, the fiber network had been running for two years. In that time, the township had invested \$1.3 million. Also in that time, the consulting firm concluded:

the following economic effects can be directly attributed to the [fiber] network:

- 62.5 new jobs
- \$2.8 million in commercial / industrial expansion
- \$140,000 in increased revenues and decreased costs.²⁰

Over the following two years, the SNG authors predicted the following effects:

- \$25.22 million increase in GDP for Dundas County and \$7.87 million increase for the Province of Ontario
- 207 person years of employment for Dundas County and 64 for the rest of Ontario
- \$3.5 million in revenue in provincial tax revenues and \$4.5 million increase in federal tax revenues.²¹

Thus in Dundas County, broadband access likely led notable economic growth.

1.3 The "Digital Divide": The Rural Disadvantage

Rural areas - such as those throughout New Hampshire - are less likely to have broadband Internet access than more urban areas.²² A 2000 report by the Departments of Commerce and Agriculture concluded that "rural areas are currently lagging far behind urban areas in broadband availability," particularly due to increased costs from having fewer customers spread out over a larger area.²³ A 2001 scholarly paper from the University of Cincinnati observes that "urban areas are receiving the majority of infrastructure investment, thereby leaving many rural locations with few options for broadband access."²⁴ According to a 2003 US Census Bureau survey, 40 percent of urban households had Internet access, as opposed to 25 percent of rural households. As it turned out, residents nationwide living in rural areas were over more than four times as likely to be unable to upgrade their dial-up connections than those in urban areas.²⁵ An analysis of a 2005 Small Business Administration's Office of Advocacy survey revealed that "rural broadband use was 25 percent lower than urban broadband use," with "rural small businesses...tend[ing to] pay 10 percent more for prices for broadband services than urban businesses do."²⁶ This "digital divide" disadvantages New Hampshire residents in terms of broadband accessibility.

Table 1. Type of Home	Connection by Rural/U	Jrban, 2003 (Percent of	f Households with Internet)

	Total US	Rural	Urban	Central City
Dial-up	62.8	74.7	58.9	58.4
Broadband	36.5	24.7	40.4	40.9
Other	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.8

Source: US Census Bureau's Current Population Survey, October 2003²⁷



1.4 Factors Affecting Broadband Accessibility

One scholarly study quantified how various factors affected broadband accessibility from 2001 to 2003. As Table 2 indicates, a one percent increase in the following factors would lead to varying likelihoods over whether an area has broadband access. For example, an a increase in the amount of forests would lead to a six to eight percent decrease in broadband Internet accessibility, while a one percent increase in hilliness is related to a two percent increase in accessibility.

 Table 2. Change in Broadband Accessibility due to a One Percent Increase in Given Factors, 2001 to

 2003

Factor	Change
Terrain elements (e.g., grasslands, bodies of water, and forests)	-6-8%
"Vertical rise," defined as the range of elevations in a given area	-2%
"Share of rural population"	-1%
Population with a high school degree or above	+2%
"Hilliness"	+2%

Source: Kenneth Flamm, "The Role of Economics, Demographics, and State Policy in Broadband Availability" ²⁸

Additionally, although at first the author notes that population density leads to a two percent increase in availability, he establishes that it is "absolute market size" that affects that availability "since denser zip codes are also zip codes with larger populations." He also observes that income effects are minimal at best.²⁹

Table 3 shows how different industries also affect accessibility. For example, for each additional retail trade establishment, there is a ten percent increase in broadband Internet accessibility.

Table 3. Change in Broadband Accessibility due to an Additional Establishment. 2	2001 to 20	03
,		

Establishment Field	Change
Health care	-9%
Social assistance	-3%
Other	+4%
Manufacturing	+6%
Retail trade	+6%
Accommodation and food services	+8%
Professional, scientific, and technical services	+10%

Source: Kenneth Flamm, "The Role of Economics, Demographics, and State Policy in Broadband Availability" ³⁰

1.5 Mixed Effectiveness of State-Initiated Policies

Various studies have shown mixed reviews over whether state-initiated policies can be effective. The studies have concluded:

• It is difficult to even measure state-level policies and to discount assessing them "because they represent too high a level of aggregation," according to the aforementioned professors from MIT and Carnegie Mellon.³¹



- The policies "appear to have played a role in accelerating or retarding broadband deployment," according to a professor from the University of Texas at Austin.³²
- "Most state-level policies are ineffective. Universal service mechanisms and programs targeted at 'underserved areas' do not boost broadband penetration and may even slow it, possibly by giving an artificial advantage to one type of provider over another," according to a scholar at the American Enterprise Institute and AEI-Brookings Joint Center for Regulatory Studies.³³
- There are mixed results for government subsidies encouraging rural development. There are positive results for one study by scholars from Queens College and MIT,³⁴ and both significant and insignificant results from the aforementioned scholar from AEI-Brookings.³⁵

2. PUBLIC SERVICE NETWORKS

One possible method for increasing broadband access to rural areas — as Colorado and Washington have initiated — is through the creation of a state-wide public service high-speed network. In this model, all of the state's courthouses, hospitals, libraries, schools and other public buildings are linked together in a single high-speed network. By linking these facilities, the state ensures that there are no public services hindered by either poor or lacking Internet service in rural areas. Furthermore, by allowing private telecom companies to extend high-speed service to private homes and businesses from the nodes established at public buildings, the network allows for increased broadband penetration across rural communities.

The drawback for the public service network approach is that it does not provide for services to customers beyond the networks' fringes ("last-mile services"). Although the public sector is provided for, there is no guarantee that the private sector will decide to extend service to rural communities. Even with high speed nodes nearby, telecom companies may still find it unprofitable to provide Internet hookups for many areas. If this occurs on a widespread basis, another alternative would need to be available in order to reach those areas. The states of Washington and Colorado provide examples of the public service network.

2.1 Colorado: MNT

Colorado has had a public service network since 2003 in the form of the Multi-Use Network, or MNT.³⁶ The MNT is a public-private partnership between the state of Colorado and Qwest Communications and is composed of a high-speed fiber-optic network linking the county seats of all but one of the sixty-four counties in Colorado.³⁷ All state data travels over the MNT, along with data from some local governments and school districts.³⁸ In addition, Qwest and other telecom companies provide service to the private sector over the MNT. Ninety-seven percent of county seats now have access to broadband service.³⁹



Despite the MNT, last-mile connection difficulties still exist in Colorado, spurring a sister program to the MNT called the Beanpole project. The Beanpole project offers grants and incentives to private companies wishing to expand broadband coverage by latching onto the public network.⁴⁰ However, the Beanpole project has not proven effective enough in delivering rural broadband access. In October 2007, Colorado Governor Bill Ritter responded to this by creating an "Innovation Council," which would include among its goals increased broadband penetration into rural areas.⁴¹



Figure 2. Colorado's Multi-Use Network, Linking the State's County Seats⁴²

2.2 Washington: WAN

The state of Washington maintains a public service network through its Department of Information Services' Wide Area Network (WAN) program. Most state, local, and educational data flows over the WAN, which has access points in all 39 of Washington's counties.⁴³ An essential part of the Washington WAN is the K-20 Education Network, which provides dedicated Internet service to over 2,000 schools and 300 school districts at about half of the cost of private sources.⁴⁴ Private or public sources lease the infrastructure for the network in individual contracts corresponding to geographic areas. By aggregating public traffic in a geographic area to a single contract, the state makes it worthwhile for telecom companies to enter places they may otherwise find financially infeasible.⁴⁵ Once large state contracts draw the telecom companies into rural areas, the companies then have the incentive to install infrastructure and provide service to homes and businesses that would otherwise lack it. The WAN has considerably advanced broadband access in rural eastern Washington.⁴⁶



Figure 3. Washington's WAN's K-20 Network, Linking the State's Schools and School Districts⁴⁷

3. PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS

Public-private partnership models allow governments and businesses to work together, consolidate information, and promote broadband access projects. Although the state governments may provide some funding, it is ultimately the private companies that extend the network infrastructure. In Utah, the project encourages private companies to extend the infrastructure throughout the participating cities. In North Carolina and Kentucky, programs map out the broadband supply to show companies where potential customers are located. North Carolina cross-references this information with county economic status. Meanwhile, Kentucky works on the community level by appointing local teams to assess the potential demand for broadband Internet access.

3.1 Utah: UTOPIA

The Utah Telecommunication Open Infrastructure Agency (UTOPIA) is a partnership consisting of over fourteen neighboring cities that has been working to provide broadband Internet to its member cities since 2004. The member cities have provided low-interest bonds to help finance the expansion and maintenance of the fiber-optic network's infrastructure to ensure it is accessible throughout the combined region; private companies deliver the services to customers through this Agency-owned infrastructure.⁴⁸ The participating service providers all share the same fiber-optic network, but would be able to conduct business independently of each other.

After receiving contracts from the Agency, private companies promise to both build that infrastructure and then to help fund it.⁴⁹ Private providers pay UTOPIA a fee to use the shared network and can then provide telecommunications services to interested customers. Meanwhile, these UTOPIA fees are used to pay off the bonds and maintain the infrastructure. The Agency reports that, "No tax dollars are anticipated to be used in

either building or operating the network."⁵⁰ Reports confirm that the project will experience positive net revenue within 10 years, and will have paid off its loans within $20.^{51}$



Figure 4. UTOPIA's Fourteen Member Cities⁵²

Non-participating vendors have seen UTOPIA as unfair competition. Many competing companies such as Cisco, Qwest, and Comcast tried lobbying against UTOPIA in 2004; the following year, Qwest additionally tried suing UTOPIA and one of its member cities.⁵³ UTOPIA has also begun providing services to non-member cities, even though it technically should not be doing so.⁵⁴ Since UTOPIA's service only includes all providers who choose to pay the fee to opt into the shared network, and since its scope only includes participating cities, non-participating companies throughout the state face stark competition.

3.2 North Carolina: e-NC Authority

In 2003, the North Carolina state government created the e-NC Authority, a governmentappointed committee of public sector and private sector employees that aims to "provide high-speed Internet access at competitive prices...to all North Carolinians by 2011.⁵⁵ It has worked to research, coordinate, fund, and fundraise to promote statewide connectivity, especially in underserved areas. One example of a project has been the development of several Business and Technology Telecenters, which are "multi-purpose technology, business, training, and public access centers."⁵⁶ Overall, the Authority has bestowed over \$30 million in grants in support of its mission.⁵⁷

The e-NC Authority has also mapped out the broadband access available across the state.⁵⁸ By monitor the connectivity efforts statewide, the Authority can then devote more of its efforts toward encouraging service providers to aid underserved regions. At the same time, providers can easily identify potential markets. Additionally, by incorporating



counties' economic conditions, North Carolina has been able to direct businessdevelopment tax credits to high-priority areas.⁵⁹

2006 High Speed Internet Access



Figure 5. Map of Broadband Internet Availability throughout North Carolina⁶⁰

3.3 Kentucky: ConnectKentucky

Connected Nation, Inc. has collaborated with Kentucky to develop the effective ConnectKentucky model. The program acts as a partnership between the public and private sectors, allowing them to work together to promote broadband accessibility. Additional focuses include research, public relations, recruiting, and mapping out the supply of broadband Internet access.⁶¹ At the same time, local leaders form "eCommunity Leadership Teams" work with their community to assess potential demand and price sensitivity.^{62,63} As a result of these steps, businesses know which areas are underserved and where the potential customers are located. ConnectKentucky has acquired funds through both the state and the federal governments and has also gathered over \$500 million in private investments.⁶⁴



Figure 6. A Selected Portion from the "Broadband Service Inventory for the Commonwealth of Kentucky." The pink circles denote broadband availability, and the blue dots represent water tanks.⁶⁵

Kentucky has been named number one in the nation "for expanding broadband." From 2001 to 2004, broadband availability increased from 60 to 94 percent.^{66,67} Due to Kentucky's success, Tennessee is currently replicating the ConnectKentucky model.⁶⁸

4. NEARBY STATES

Both Vermont and Maine have recently created statewide advocates to promote broadband Internet access. Their programs focus on granting financial incentives, gathering information, and supporting various efforts to improve broadband accessibility. Only time will tell how successful their programs are.

4.1 Vermont: Establishing Contacts and Sponsoring Innovation

Vermont established the Vermont Telecommunications Authority in June 2007 to support the development of broadband and wireless infrastructure throughout the state, particularly in unserved and underserved areas. Specific goals include universal access to affordable broadband services by 2010, such as voice and high-speed data delivery; investment in telecommunications infrastructure in the state which will support the best available economically feasible service capabilities, up-to-date telecommunications and broadband infrastructure in all areas of the state; and efficient use of both public and private resources through state policies by encouraging the development of open access telecommunications infrastructure that can be shared by multiple service providers.⁶⁹

Although the Authority was recently created and currently has no staff to assist its volunteer Board, it has made such progress as "establishing contacts in Maine, Kentucky, and New York that are pursuing similar initiatives" and "consulting with" such private sector companies as Verizon, FairPoint, Comcast, and wireless Internet service providers.⁷⁰ Currently the Authority is advertising its Broadband Grant Program, seeking applicants "to create demonstration projects to test viable models for providing broadband to all Vermonters."⁷¹

4.2 Maine: Gathering Information and Using a Surcharge to Fund Underserved Areas

The State of Maine established the ConnectME Authority in May 2007. The ConnectME Authority serves to promote the development, financing, education, and deployment of broadband and wireless throughout the state. It also works to collect and disseminate pertinent communications information. A priority for the Authority is to promote broadband access in unserved and underserved areas.⁷²

The ConnectME Authority imposes a 0.25 percent surcharge for revenue collected on all instate communications services.⁷³ There is a \$500,000 grant in place reserved for underserved areas that demonstrate need. The ConnectME Authority can make loans and grants to any other responsible entity or group determined by the Authority to be capable of installing, using, and managing advanced communications technology infrastructure in the area.⁷⁴

5. BEYOND STATE LEVEL

Rather than confining collaboration to within a single state, states also have options to work with their neighbors or even the federal government.



5.1 Multi-State Partnerships

Public-private partnerships among entire regions have the potential to unite nearby states. These states can collaborate to address their shared problems with shared solutions. At the same time, these partnerships share some of the burdens that the participating regions would normally face. The Wireless LINC initiative provides broadband wireless Internet access to New Hampshire's North Country and Vermont's Northeastern Kingdom. The SMART Organization secures federal funding, congressional representation, and contacts from the public and private sectors for Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania.

5.1.1 Wireless LINC: New Hampshire's North Country and Vermont's Northeastern Kingdom

NH-based non-profits Northern Community Investment Corporation and Littleton Industrial Development Corporation have implemented Wireless LINC, a Regional Service Provider providing wide-scale wireless Internet throughout a six-county, 6,000 square mile region.⁷⁵ This region spans throughout New Hampshire's North Country (Carroll, Coos, and Grafton Counties) and Vermont's Northeastern Kingdom (Caledonia, Essex, and Orleans Counties).⁷⁶ It is currently undergoing a 2008 pilot program throughout the 400 square mile region encompassing Dalton, Groveston, Jefferson, Lancaster, and Whitefield.⁷⁷ After the initial stage of testing ends in May 2008, the project will next expand into Littleton and Stratford.⁷⁸

The \$13 million project is financed through "a combination of grants, federal earmarks, and tax credits."⁷⁹ If the project's fundraising goes according to plan, it will cover the entire region in three years; however, as it gradually expands, its completed parts are expected to become financially self-sustaining.⁸⁰

The Wireless LINC initiative's development has encountered several hurdles. Since the project encompasses two states, and in many cases the funding NCIC and LIDC seek applies to only one state or the other, they have had to deal with the varying fundraising climates in both states. In fulfilling its \$13 million mission, it has raised \$2.2 million out of \$7 million in New Hampshire, but only \$70,000 out of \$6 million in Vermont. As opposed to dealing with just one state, the Wireless LINC project has had to deal with two states' logistics and political climates to seek appropriate funding.⁸¹

The project also had to address concerns coming from the private sector. When NCIC and LIDC first introduced the project, local wireless service providers (WISPs) were afraid they were "trying to put them [the WISPs] out of business" by taking away both current and future customers. NCIC and LIDC had to convince the WISPs that the WISPs would be making more money working on the Wireless LINC project than working on their own. So in light of initial concerns from local providers, the Wireless LINC team had to convince them that the providers would actually gain business as opposed to losing it.⁸²



Figure 7. The Wireless LINC Initiative, Final Form⁸³

Meanwhile, NCIC and LIDC had to sign "a memo of understanding with Fairpoint [Communications] to 'work jointly' to provide service in the region." Instead of competing to take away one another's business, they agreed to aggregate demand to buy infrastructure and to initially work in different regions. If in the long term, "one side is technologically disadvantaged, then the other should make an effort to take it over." As a result, NCIC and LIDC are working together with Fairpoint to aid an underserved region without putting each other out of business.⁸⁴

5.1.2 SMART Organization: Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania

The SMART (Strengthening the Mid-Atlantic Region for Tomorrow) Organization has utilized a regional partnership to "support R&D and technology based opportunities for economic growth" throughout Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania.⁸⁵ Its Board of Directors consists of members from the public and private sector, while its congressional representation consists of all of the US Congress members from the four states.⁸⁶ SMART is attempting to pass "legislation to create the nation's first interstate, regional S&T [Science and Technology] Authority."⁸⁷ It also supports training and awareness programs throughout the four states. The SMART Organization has secured over \$410 million in federal funding for the region.⁸⁸





Figure 8. The Four SMART States: Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, and Pennsylvania⁸⁹

If SMART can "provide a collaborative model for other regions," then perhaps New Hampshire can adopt a similar model.⁹⁰ If several New England states (such as New Hampshire, Vermont, and Maine) all find themselves with similar connectivity issues, and each is pursuing statewide initiatives to improve broadband accessibility, New Englanders may work together to pursue common goals more effectively.

5.1.3 Connecting Appalachia Task Force: Currently Ohio

Rep. Zack Space (D-OH) has very recently created the Connecting Appalachia Broadband Task Force, which first met in July 2007. The Task Force's ultimate goal is to "[bring] broadband technology to everyone in rural Appalachia,"⁹¹ and its representation consists of government officials, community leaders, and various telecommunications representatives. Although this group's representation is predominantly Ohio-based, the Task Force's mission suggests that it nevertheless has the potential to extend the partnership beyond Ohio to the remaining dozen states in the Appalachian region.



Figure 9. The Appalachian Region, Encompassing 13 States⁹²

5.2 Funding

5.2.1 USDA: \$75 Billion Nationwide, \$728 Million to New Hampshire and Vermont

The US Department of Agriculture's Rural Development initiative provides funding in the form of loans and grants with the intent of fostering economic growth, enhanced education, healthcare and public safety services. "The Broadband Access Loan program [within the USDA] provides loans for funding the costs of construction, improvement, and acquisition of facilities to provide broadband service to eligible rural communities.



The Rural Development Community Connect Grant Program provides grants to applicants it deems eligible in areas that are currently underserved." Additionally, the Distance Learning and Telemedicine program brings "electronic educational resources to rural schools and [improves] health care delivery in rural America."⁹³ From 2001-2006, the program appropriated over \$75 billion in grants and loans nationwide, with almost one percent of the total (\$728 million combined) going to New Hampshire and Vermont.⁹⁴

5.2.2 HUD: \$175 Billion Nationwide

The US Department of Housing and Urban Development's Office of Economic Development's Rural Housing and Economic Development (RHED) Program offers up to \$400,000 per applicant to "[provide] for capacity building at the State and local level, for rural housing and economic development, and to support innovative housing and economic development activities in rural areas." From 1999 through 2005, RHED has appropriated over \$175 billion in grants.⁹⁵ This may be pertinent to the economic development that broadband Internet access can provide.

6. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Today, roughly 30 percent of New Hampshire citizens do not have broadband access to the Internet. By analyzing various state models, several trends emerge that suggest feasible ways to promote broadband Internet access: a statewide broadband advocate, an assessment of accessibility and demand, broadband demand aggregation, financial incentives, and collaboration.

6.1 Statewide Broadband Advocate

Most states that increased efforts to promote broadband access had some advocate promoting statewide broadband Internet access. (Utah's program only targeted participating cities, while Colorado and Washington just focused on government-owned areas.) This entity has been a government entity or a non-profit composed of representatives from the public and private sector. Nevertheless, this advocate has dealt with such tasks as research, public relations, funding, and fundraising.

Additionally, educating citizens about the potential of broadband Internet access can encourage broadband demand that may not exist initially. Although the Blacksburg, Virginia Electronic Village was a 1993 project that involved providing just dial-up Internet access throughout Montgomery County, Virginia, the lessons learned there can be applied to broadband usage as well:

[t]he obstacle to increased expansion into the less affluent and less educated rural areas of the county is not the availability of computers (many homes already have one) or access to the network (local Internet access is already available), but education.... We believed in the 'field of dreams' model – if we built the network, users would come. We did build it, and they did not come. We had to begin educating them, one by one and group by group. Only when we did that did we begin to use significant use of the network.⁹⁶



6.2 Assessment of Accessibility and Demand

Surveying New Hampshire's broadband environment would help focus expansion efforts, as such information for the state is currently unavailable. As demonstrated by the North Carolina and Kentucky cases, states are able to see who receives the service and who does not by working with regional service providers to map out the supply of broadband Internet access. After identifying these connectivity blind-spots, companies may have a greater incentive to seek out potential customers. North Carolina and Maine assess only the accessibility, but Kentucky utilizes its locally targeted eCommunity Leadership Teams to gauge the demand as well. By getting a better idea of both the current and potential demand in an area, Kentucky further encourages providers to extend services to underserved areas.

By knowing what is available and what is desired, New Hampshire can spur private development and get a better sense of where action may be needed and effective. Over time, the state could also keep track of the progress that results from broadband expansion efforts.

6.3 Demand Aggregation

Consolidating broadband buyer demand reduces costs. Through buying bandwidth in bulk, aggregated customers can save on broadband costs just as they do when buying goods wholesale. Providers are also better able to afford serving an area if they know that there are many customers willing to pay for broadband Internet access. Washington and Colorado are able to aggregate buyer demand when purchasing bandwidth for the public sector, while Utah's UTOPIA network and the Wireless LINC initiative work through public-private partnerships.

One caveat when aggregating demand is that the participating buyers who receive the lower costs do so at the expense of those who do not participate:

State education and government networks disaggregate demand by taking some of a community's largest bandwidth customers out of the common (community) buying pool. The government customers get lower rates, which appears to save tax dollars, but this is done at the expense of the rest of the community, who in effect pay a use tax in the form of higher fees to support the private state network.

If demand aggregation does take place, combining individual users with larger customers, such as government networks, would allow lower costs for all parties involved.⁹⁷

6.4 Financial Incentives

Traditional revenue-driven deployment of broadband infrastructure and services through private organizations is not able to meet the service requirements of many communities. For this reason, government-sponsored programs and incentives have the potential to assist in decreasing the gap in the digital divide between urban and rural communities.



States can always provide incentives to broadband carriers to provide those services. Additionally, state legislation may include laws, codes and policy guidelines that are meant to serve the interests of the state but impede telecommunication infrastructure development. Specific examples include franchise fees, pole attachment fees, taxes, licenses, and ownership controls.⁹⁸ States should remove these barriers and replace them with incentives, grants, and tax credits intended to spur development. All of the states examined except Washington utilized some form of financial incentive.

6.5 Collaboration

Collaboration on some level helps to provide access to underserved areas, such as between the public and private sectors, as well as amongst similar regions.

6.5.1 Collaboration between the Public and Private Sectors

If the private sector alone cannot provide services throughout a state, then government assistance can provide the boost needed to get the job done. States such as Kentucky, North Carolina, and Utah have worked side-by-side with private companies to consolidate information, amass private investment, and secure private funds. Private telecom companies will ultimately be responsible for the expansion of broadband access to rural areas. Thus, any government contracts, grants, and incentives should be available to multiple providers and should not unfairly undercut or exclude particular firms.

6.5.2 Collaboration amongst Similar Regions

This collaboration can extend beyond the intra-state level to the federal government through federal funding. A state can also cooperate with others in the region, just as the four SMART states have, the Connecting Appalachia Task Force could, and as northern New Hampshire recently has with northern Vermont through Wireless LINC. In addition to working with other New England states, New Hampshire may also work nationwide with similar regions that face similar problems.

6.6 Summary of Recommendations Present in Case Studies

Table 3 shows a summary of recommendations present in the case studies addressed in this paper, both for single-state and multi-state initiatives. While no one program exhibited all five recommendations, the programs that have been more successful in promoting statewide broadband access, such as Kentucky and North Carolina, exhibited more recommendations (four).



Tuble in Summary of Recommendations i resent in Cuse Studies					
	Statewide Advocate	Assessment	Demand Aggregation	Financial Incentives	Collaboration
Colorado			\checkmark	\checkmark	
Kentucky	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Maine	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	
N. Carolina	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Utah			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Vermont	\checkmark			\checkmark	
Washington	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark
Connecting Appalachia Task Force (OH)					✓
SMART Organization (DE/MA/NJ/PA)	\checkmark			V	~
Wireless LINC (NH/VT)			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 4. Summary of Recommendations Present in Case Studies



REFERENCES

¹ Inglis, Jeff. "Internet Disconnect," *The Phoenix*, August 22, 2007.

http://thephoenix.com/article_ektid46012.aspx

² Davidson, Kate. "Regulators Give Okay to Verizon Sales," *Concord Monitor*, February 26, 2008. http://www.concordmonitor.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20080226/FRONTPAGE/802260385/1043/N EWS01

³ 2008 New Hampshire State of the State Poll, May 21, 2008 (Nelson A. Rockefeller Center Policy Research Shop, Dartmouth College). http://rockefeller.dartmouth.edu/assets/pdf/NHStatePoll.pdf.

⁴ Lehr, William H., Carlos A. Osorio, and Sharon E. Gillet. "Measuring Broadband's Impact," page 5, October 4, 2005. http://itc.mit.edu/itel/docs/2005/MeasuringBB_EconImpact.pdf

⁵ US Department of Commerce Economics and Statistics Administration and National Telecommunications and Information Administration. "A Nation Online: Entering the Broadband Age," page 14, September 2004. http://www.ntia.doc.gov/reports/anol/NationOnlineBroadband04.pdf

⁶ "Measuring," p. 5; Pociask, Steven. "Broadband Use by Rural Small Business," page 2, December 2005. http://www.sba.gov/advo/research/rs269tot.pdf

⁷ "A Nation Online," p. 12, 13.

⁸ Ibid., p. 13.

⁹ "Measuring," p. 1.

¹⁰ Ibid., p. 13.

¹¹ Ibid., p. 1, 32.

¹² Ibid., p. 14.

¹³ Ibid., p. 12.

¹⁴ Ibid., p. 1.

¹⁵ Kelley, Doris J. "A Study of the Economic and Community Benefits of Cedar Falls, Iowa's Municipal Telecommunications Network," page 9, October 2, 2003.

http://www.baller.com/pdfs/cedarfalls white paper.pdf

¹⁶ "Cedar Falls," p. 12; Matson, Malcolm, et al., "Study on Local Open Access Networks for Communities and Municipalities," page 20, 2006. http://www.infodev.org/en/Document.130.aspx ¹⁷ "Strategic Networks Group," 2005. http://www.sngroup.com/

¹⁸ Strategic Networks Group. "Economic Impact Study of the South Dundas Township Fibre Network," page 2, June 27, 2003. http://www.berr.gov.uk/files/file13262.pdf¹⁹ Ibid., p. 5.

²⁰ Ibid., p. 3.

²¹ Ibid., p. 3.

²² Gabel, David, and Florence Kwan. "Accessibility of Broadband Telecommunication Services by Various Segments of the American Population," page 1, August 2000.

http://itc.mit.edu/itel/docs/MISC/gabel kwan tprc.pdf

²³ US Department of Commerce and US Department of Agriculture. "Advanced Telecommunications in Rural America: The Challenge of Bringing Broadband Service to All Americans," page 5, April 2000. http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICDocs/data/ericdocs2sql/content_storage_01/0000019b/80/16/c7/71.pdf

²⁴ Grubesic, Tony H. "Inequities in the Broadband Revolution," *The Annals of Regional Science* 37 (2003): 263-289.

²⁵ "A Nation Online," p. 6, 17.

²⁶ Pociask, Steven. "Broadband Use by Rural Small Businesses," page 3, February 17, 2006. http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/123456789/1814/1/fo06po83.pdf

²⁷ "A Nation Online," p. 17.

²⁸ Flamm, Kenneth. "The Role of Economics, Demographics, and State Policy in Broadband Availability," pages 34, 31, 1, 27, February 7, 2005.

http://bear.cba.ufl.edu/centers/purc/DOCS/PRESENTATIONS/events/0205%20LBS/papers/Flammflammbb0205.pdf

²⁹ Ibid., p. 27.

³⁰ Ibid., p. 29.

³¹ "Measuring Broadband's Impact," p. 11.



³³ Wallsten, Scott. "Broadband Penetration: An Empirical Analysis of State and Federal Policies," page 3, June 2005.

³⁴ Gabel, David J., and Guang-Lih Huang. "Promoting Innovation: Impact of Local Competition and Regulation on Deployment of Advanced Telecommunications Services for Businesses," pages 1, 21, 2003. http://itc.mit.edu/itel/docs/2003/promo_innov.pdf

³⁵ "Empirical Analysis," p. 3.

³⁶ Division of Information Services. "Multi-Use Network (MNT) FY 2005-2006 Annual Report," page 4, October 2006. http://www.mnt.state.co.us/Documents/DoIT-MNT%20Annual%20Report-FinalWeb.pdf

³⁷ Ibid., p. 4.

³⁸ Ibid., p. 6.

³⁹ Ibid., p. 14.

⁴⁰ "Arizona," p. 14.

⁴¹ Arizona, p. 14.

⁴¹ Scanlon, Bill. "State to fix its computer error." *Rocky Mountain News*, October 12, 2007.

http://www.rockymountainnews.com/drmn/local/article/0,1299,DRMN_15_5720930,00.html

⁴² Center for Business Research. "Arizona Broadband Initiative and Framework," page 17, April 2007.
 http://new.azcommerce.com/doclib/prop/originals/arizona%20broadband%20initiative%20framework.pdf
 ⁴³ "Arizona," p. 27.

⁴⁴ K-20 Education Network. "K-20 Education Network Biennial Report: What is the K-20 Network?" Page 10, 13. http://dis.wa.gov/enterprise/k20network/biennialrpt2006.pdf

⁴⁵ "Arizona," p. 28.

⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 29.

⁴⁷ "Arizona," p. 30.

⁴⁸ Utah Telecommunication Open Infrastructure Agency. "White Paper: Utah's Public-Private Fiber-to-the-Premises Initiative," page 10, 2, November 26, 2003.

http://www.utopianet.org/docs/Utopia_White_Paper.pdf

⁴⁹ Ibid., p. 4.

⁵⁰ Ibid., p. 11.

⁵¹ Ibid., p. 3, 14, 20.

⁵² UTOPIA. "Locations." 2006. http://www.utopianet.org/where/

⁵³ "Utah Broadband Initiatives Face Legislative Threat," March 3, 2004.

http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m0PJR/is_9_2/ai_113861937; Sullivan, Mark. "Utah's Broadband War." September 22, 2005. http://www.lightreading.com/document.asp?doc_id=81200

⁵⁴ Titch, Steven. "Utah Lawmakers Assail Agency's Buildout Strategy," November 1, 2007. http://www.heartland.org/Article.cfm?artId=22168

⁵⁵ The e-NC Authority. "Commissioners," November 8, 2007. http://www.e-nc.org/Webpage.asp?page=14; the e-NC Authority. "About the Authority," January 3, 2005. http://www.e-nc.org/about/about.asp; the e-NC Authority. "What is e-NC?" 2004. http://www.e-nc.org/Webpage.asp?page=10; "Arizona," p. 23. ⁵⁶ "e-NC Business & Technology Telecenters," page 1, 2005. http://www.e-

nc.org/pdf/Telecenter_factsheet_2005.pdf

⁵⁷ The e-NC Authority. "Population Served," January 2, 2007. http://www.e-nc.org/about/population.asp; "Arizona," p. 23.

⁵⁸ The e-NC Authority. "Connecting to a Better Future," page 1, Spring/Summer 2006. http://www.e-nc.org/pdf/e-NC_Brief_2006_06_07.pdf

⁵⁹ "Population;" NC Department of Commerce. "2007 Tier Designations," page 1, January 2, 2007. http://www.e-nc.org/pdf/2007_Tiers.pdf

⁶⁰ "Future," p. 1.

⁶¹ "Connect Kentucky," June 16, 2005. http://cpe.ky.gov/policies/economic/ConnectKY.htm

⁶² ConnectKentucky. "2007 Progress Report," page 4, 2007.

http://www.connectkentucky.org/_documents/connectkentucky_2007.pdf

⁶³ "Connecting America: Broadband Policy Issues and Options for State Legislatures." August 4-5, 2007. http://www.ncsl.org/programs/lis/AM07Connected.htm

⁶⁴ "Arizona," p. 17; "What is ConnectKentucky?" November 15, 2007. http://www.connectkentucky.org/about/

³² "Role," p. 2.



⁶⁵ ConnectKentucky. "Broadband Service Inventory for the Commonwealth of Kentucky," December 31, 2007. ftp://ftp.connectky.org/PUBLIC/Mapping/StatewideMaps/Broadband Statewide.jpg ⁶⁶ Rotermann, Tracie. "ConnectKentucky Success Spurs Growth," page 1, August 9, 2007. http://www.connectkentucky.org/ documents/PressRelease Legg True Final.pdf ⁶⁷ "Arizona," p. 17. ⁶⁸ Ibid., p. 6; "Connecting America." ⁶⁹ Vermont Telecommunications Authority. "Mission," 2007. http://www.telecomvt.org/mission.php ⁷⁰ Vermont Telecommunications Authority, "Vermont Telecommunications Authority Annual Oversight Report," page 3, January 1, 2008. http://www.telecomvt.org/documents/Vermont Telecommunications Authority 2007 legislative report.p df ⁷¹ Vermont Telecommunications Authority. "Vermont Telecommunications Authority." http://www.telecomvt.org/ ⁷² "ConnectME Authority," page 3, May 30, 2007. http://www.maine.gov/sos/cec/rules/90/99/639/639c101.doc; Bistrais, Bob, and the Maine GIS Technical Team. "Broadband Availability in Maine." http://megisims.state.me.us/website/BroadBand2/viewer.htm ⁷³ State of Maine. "ConnectME Authority Notice of Rulemaking," page 13, September 27, 2006. ⁷⁴ "Arizona," p. 18. ⁷⁵ "Little Industrial Park," 2008. http://www.golittleton.com/industrial park.php ⁷⁶ Northern Community Investment Corporation, "About NCIC," 2007. http://www.ncic.org/~loans4u/home/?page id=2; Northern Community Investment Corporation, "Area Served," 2007. http://www.ncic.org/~loans4u/home/?page_id=12 ⁷⁷ Northern Community Investment Corporation, "Home," 2007. http://www.ncic.org/home/ ⁷⁸ Penney, Elizabeth. "Promise of wireless broadband being fulfilled in North Country," December 21, 2007. http://www.nhbr.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20071221/INDUSTRY06/474526417/-1/NEWS 79 Ibid. ⁸⁰ J. Freeman, phone interview held over conducted from Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, February 8, 2008. ⁸¹ J. Freeman, phone interview. ⁸² Ibid. ⁸³ "Promise." ⁸⁴ Ibid. ⁸⁵ Ibid. ⁸⁶ SMART Organization. "SMART Board of Directors," 2006. http://www.smartstates.com/Home/Organization/tabid/60/Default.aspx; SMART Organization. "SMART Caucus," 2006. http://www.smartstates.com/Caucus/tabid/53/Default.aspx ⁸⁷ "Home." ⁸⁸ SMART Organization. "Membership," 2006. http://www.smartstates.com/Membership/tabid/52/Default.aspx ⁸⁹ SMART Organization. "Home," 2006. http://www.smartstates.com/ 90 Ibid. ⁹¹ Thornton, Matt. "Space Holds First Connecting Appalachia Broadband Taskforce Meeting," July 23, 2007. http://space.house.gov/list/press/oh18_space/firstbroadbandmeeting.html ⁹² Sokol, Anna. "The Appalachian Region." 2005. http://www.umich.edu/~econdev/arc/appalachia.jpeg ⁹³ US Department of Agriculture. "Rural Development Telecommunications Program," October 24, 2007. http://www.usda.gov/rus/telecom/index.htm

⁹⁴ US Department of Agriculture. "Rural Development: State Total Dollars Obligated and Number of Loans and Grants Made: FY 2001-2006," page 1, 2006. http://www.rurdev.usda.gov/rd/pubs/State-totals-Obls-Num-Loans-2001-2006.pdf

⁹⁵ US Department of Housing and Urban Development. "Rural Housing and Economic Development (RHED)." http://www.hud.gov/offices/cpd/economicdevelopment/programs/rhed/

⁹⁶ Blacksburg Electronic Village, Incorporated. "Building Community in Rural America - A Replicable Model for Community Networks." http://www.bev.net/about/research/ntia/ntia-95.php



⁹⁷ Design Nine, Inc. "The Northern New Hampshire Technology and Telecommunications Master Plan: Section Two: Technology Primer," page 17, February 2005. http://www.ruralnh.org/images/northernNH_techplan.pdf ⁹⁸ Tritle, Brad. "Research Information on States that have Enacted Laws to Ensure Deployment of

Broadband Telecommunications Infrastructure in Rural and Underserved Areas," page 6, January 21, 2003. www.arizonatele.com/atic/docs/AZ%20GITA%20Research%2001_28_03.pdf